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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

AMINA ELZENEINY,

Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 09-889 (JEB)
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Startingin January 200Flaintiff Amina Elzeneiny worked as a Budget Analyst for the
District of Columbia’sOffice of Budget and Planning in @ffice of the Chief Financial Officer.
Shortly after she began, she informed the Office that she suffered from fibgiamgatondition
thatcauses muscle and joint pain, as well as chronic fatijuthe years that followedhe
requested a variety of accommodations from her employer, such as the @abibrtk bn a
flexible schedule The Districtagreed to nearly atif herrequests. Plaintiff notleeless
complains that months (and, in one instance, even yefdes) passebtiefore it did so.She also
alleges thashe was harassed and retaliated againshtey,alia, being accused of wrongdoing
despite dack of evidenceandbeing given negative and unsubstantiated feedback in her
performance evaluations.

In the last few years of her tenure with QBRaintiff's condition worsened, and she
sought to takextended medicdéave m two occasionsShe maintains that skeaswrongly
denied such leavthe second time around, atiditshe wasataliated against farakingthistime
off. Indeed, she claims that sivaswrongully terminated because she tdelave and when

she was r@stated to her position after she appealedwsisetransferretb adifferent office
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where shdnadfewer responsibilities. She ultimatdeBndered her resignati@pproximately six
months latein 2011 and now claims that she was constructively discharged.

Citing this history, Plaintifbrought this suit againgie District of Columbiainder the
Americans with Disabilities Acthe D.C. Human Rights Act, and the Family and Medical Leave
Act. Followingyears ofextendedroceedingsn this cas, the Districthow moves for summary
judgment. In doing so, first argues thathe three countaddedin her First and Second
Amended Complaints k€., for interference with her rights undére RMLA (Count Ill),
retaliation under the ADA (Count IV), and retaliation under the FMLA (Count V) — dhmrul
dismissed because she did not miageself availabléor a depositiorafter includingthose
causes of actionAlthough further extendingretrial proceedings hardlya salubrious
outcome, the Court believes that rescheduling her depositioaresjustifiable thalismissing
Counts IV now.

The Districtalsocontend that nuch of the conduct Plaintifomplairs of in the
remaining two counts cannot be pursued in this Couiith Wspect to her DCHRAlaim
(Count II), for instancethe aty notes that she elected to pursue administrative remegd&tsad
of filing suit, for conduct that took plag&ior to March 10, 2008. A® herotherADA claim
(Count I) it asserts that she did rtohely file an EEOC chargdor much of the activitywhich is
a prerequisite to bringing such a claim. Considewhgt remains ofhesetwo counts, the
District believes it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law because it acted in gopd faith
granted nearly evgraccommodatiomhat she requestedid not subject her to a hostile work
environment, and did not create an environment so sesérgustify her resignation. Given its

commendable conduct in addressing Elzeneiny’s litany of complaints, the &gt &grees



as a result, it wilgrantDefendant’sMotion for Summary Judgment @ounts 411 as to almost
every allegation
l. Background

A. Factual Background

Piecing togethethe factdn this cag is noeasy task;he parties’ submissions are often
sparse on details, includinige timing of particulaevents. The Court has nonetheless done its
best to povide a coherent narrativen doing so, it hasredied Plaintiffsevidence and drawn
all justifiable inference in her favorasshe is the nonmoving party.

Plaintiff joinedOBP as aBudgetAnalyst on January 6, 200&eeOpp., Exh. 2
(Declaration of Amin&lzeneiny), § 2. Shortlgfter,she informedsary Ayersthe Branch
Chief for Administration, that she suffered from fibromyalgvhjch causes muscle and joint
pain, as well as chronic fatigu&eeid., 1 3; Mot., Exh. 2 (Deposition of Amina Elzeneiny) at
15:7-20; Mot., Exh. 3 (Interrogatory Responses of Gary Ayers), dms3. At the same time,
sherequested that she be allowed some flexibilityeiporting to work in the morninigecause
she sometimelsad “problem(s] with coming in, in the morning, at eight o’clock every day, for
example.” Elzeneiny Depat 17:5-18:4.

Six months later, Plaintiffrovided Ayers with two letters from her rheumatologist,
Richard A. Wilson, Jr., both of which were dated August 7, 2@Mot., Exh. 5 (Letter from
Richard A. Wilson, Jr., M.D., August 7, 200@Y¥ilson Letter 1) Exh. 6 (Letter from Richard A.
Wilson, Jr., M.D., August 7, 2003Wilson Letter 2) The lettersndicated that Dr. Wilson’s
office had been treiaig Elzeneiny fosome time and that she had been diagnosed with
fiboromyalgia. SeeWilson Letter 1; Wilson Letter 2. They further stated thaasédd on her

medical condition, [she] should be allowed some flexibility in her work schedule slodiftl . .



. be given access to a ‘handicapped access card.” Wilson Lefiére latter request was made
because thbuildingentrance sheormally usedhad “some big stairsind was drther away.
Elzeneiny Depo. at 90:1-19.

Roughly three months later, on October 30, 2003, Ayers sentrel & the security
office indicating that Elzeneiny should geantedhandicapped access the building. SeeMot.,
Exh. 11 (E-mail from Ayers to PSD Access Control (Oct. 30, 2003, 3:38 PM)). &beet
weeks after thahewroteto Plaintiff indicating that “pending further medical/legaVieawv and
decision,” she would be given “a special exception to the standard OBP flextimye "piiot.,
Exh. 7 (E-mail from Ayers to Elzeneiny (Nov. 21, 2003, 12:33 PM)). Specifically, she would
“beallowed to attach [her] doctor’s letter to a signed flextime form as tlyerequired proof of
[her] compliance with [the oftie’s] flextime policy.” Id. He alsoinformed her that she would
“be allowed to sigan on a liberal, norpredetermined flextime basis, as long as [she]
maintain[ed] a standard 40-hour work week,” that she would “be allowed to perform seokne wo
at home,”and that she would also be given a notebook computer for “atdr&me purposes.”
Id.

In Decembenpf that yeayPlaintiff was askedo moveto a cubicle closer to the Branch
Chief’s office. SeeMot., Exh. 9 (Email from Ayers to OBP- All Staff (Dec. 4 2003, 4:47
PM)). The parties dispute whether she was the only staff member asked to relocgdate
Elzeneiny Depo. at 48:15-1with Ayers Interrogs., Ans. No. 9y iany eventshe feltthatshe
could not do so because it would require heetyganize her degkuring a very busy time, and
she was fatigued and in pain as a result of her condieeElzeneiny Depo. at 51:8-52:4he
thuspromptly contacted henternist, Dr. Mahmoud Mustafa, to discuss the mdveeid. at

46:4-17. She taims that whileshe was on the phone, Ayers “stood behind [her] right at the



cubicle . . . for 45 minutes.Id. at 46:18-21. He did so despile fact that she told him shas
on a personal callSeeid. at46:1-18.

Afterwards Dr. Mustafa sent Dallas Allen, the Director of Budget Formulation, a letter
indicating that he was “concernetiatElzeneiny’s medical issues had not been “fully taken into
consideration regarding the proposed re-location of her work station” and “requieatifthe
office’s] decision to relocate Ms. Elzeny [sic] bere-evaluated after an in depth review of her
disability.” Mot., Exh. 10 (Letter from Mustafa to Allen, Dec. 10, 2003). Although thecytse
EEO Officer, Teresa Wilsorroncluded thadtmanagement’s request for [Plaintiff] to relocate
was ‘reasonable,” and did not present an undue burden on [her],” d@iBRtely granted her
request” to remain at her work statioBeeAyers Interrogs., AndNo. 9.; see als&lzeneiny
Depo. at 49:17-20.

Overthenext severamonths, in the Spring of 2004, C. Ayo Bryaht Special Assistant
to the Directorjndicated in two separate memoranda that Elzeneiny hadappeovedor a
variety ofaccommodations. The first memo, dated February 26, 2#iddgthat Elzeneinyas
approved for: 1) “an ergonomic chair with specifications designed to meet tloeljganieeds of
[her] disability”; 2)a “flexible arrival time” and permission to “work as many or as few hours
each workday . . . so long as [she] complete[d] eighty hours in a two-weea¥ thuty”; 3) “a
desktop printer . . . located in [her] workspace”; 4) “Handicap Access to the Wilson Building
Worksite”; 5) “approval to travel by Taxi rather than Metro rail for woglated local travel”;
and 6) permission to remain at her workstation “until and unless an adjustment iethdEéthe
result of a significant business operation chandéct., Exh. 12 (Memorandum from Bryant to

Elzeneiny, Feb. 26, 2004).



The second memo, datdthy 7, 2004 reiterated these accommodations and stiizd
she was alsapproved to use “a laptop on an as needed basis upon [her] request,” even though
OBP had generally “limited the regular use of laptop computers to . . . Branch ametkeébove.
Mot., Exh. 13 (Memorandum from Bryant to Elzeneiny, May 7, 2004)s later memo also
statedthatany of“[tlhe accommalations . . . that ha[d] not already been provided [would]
become effective on Monday May 10, 2004,” and that the office would “schedule a follow-up
meeting at the end of ninety days .to review the effectivenef the accommodations with
[her].” I1d.

Apparently, however, the problems continuaald Plaintiff filed a Charge of
Discrimination withthe Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and the D.C. Office of
Human Rights on December 19, 2005eeOpp., Exh. 1 (December 19, 2005, Charge of
Discrimination); Elzeneinecl, 1 7. In it, she alleged discrimination on account of the fact that
“[b]etweenAugust 2003 thru December 2004,” dteal “requested the use of flextime,
telecommuting, filing cabinets, to stay in [her] cubicle,ld#da [sic], handicap access, a desk t
printer among other requests,” ahatalthough she “received several of the requested
accommodations,” she did salg “after a long and protracted battle with [Defendant].”
December 19, 2005, Charge of Discrimination. She also alleged that she had beetetsubjec
to harassment,” as evidenced by the fact that she was asked to move to a new cudxcle, off
persmnelattempted taontact her doctor without her permission, Ayers stood over her while she
talkedon the phone with her doct@taff madecomments to her supervisiiat they felt sorry
for him having to supervise her, negative comments were included in her “passbackfolders

which are openly seen by the whole office,” and she was “accus[ed] . . . of wrong dbimg w

L As discussed in Section III.C.2iafra, the parties dispute whether she filed this charge on December 19, 2005, or
March 28, 2006.



evidence that there was any wrongdointl’ at 2. Shelastclaimed that the Office had
retaliated against her by not giving her extra projects, not including “comnarslat . in [her]
evaluations,” admonishing her in hE¥2004 evaluation for asking for an extensionagoroject,
incorporating unsubstantiated allegations in her June 2005 mid-year evaluation,iagdofail
promote her despite the fact that others who joined the t¢dfiechad been Seeid.

In December 2006,sdhese complaints churnélarough the administrative process,
Plaintiff tore a €ndon in heright arm, unrelated to her fiboromyalgi&eeElzeneiny Depo. at
78:9-11; 79:3-4. Her doctor thusquested that she be given speedognition software. See
id. at 78:9-14. Followindpersurgeryin February, halso asked that she “bda@bed to work
from home.” Id. at 78:14-18; Mot., Exh. 16 (Letter from Mahmoud H. Mustafa to Angell
Jacobs, Mar. 13, 2007Bothrequest wereapproved, and the Office paid approximately $3,000
to provide her with voicectivated softwareSeeElzeneinyDepo. at 78:18-79:2; Ayers
Interrogs., Ans. No. 7Sometime irR007,the Office alsgermitted her to use the Virtual
Private Network (WN) so that she couldccessier work filesmore easily from home. It had,
however, takeritwo or three years” to gehis. SeeElzeneiny Depo. at 98:5-100:14; Elzeneiny
Decl., 1 5.

Eventually, inOctober2007, OHR issued a “No Probable Cause” Determination.
Elzeneiny appealedtutthe agency affirmeds assessment in March 2008. According to
Plaintiff, “Shortly after’ this final ruling, “Defendant removed all of [her] accommodations until
March 2009.” Elzeneiny Decl., 11 8-9. Defendant’s evidence indicates that OBPifyid not
Plaintiff on April 3, 2008, that it was “reinstating the terms of the February 24, 288d4nmable
accommodation memorandum,” and thwas terminating [itsfemporary authorization to sign-

in on a liberal, non-predetermined flextime basis, which was granted to accomfhedate



recovery from surgery.” Mot., Exh. 17 (Declaration of Sumita Chaudhuri), Exh. 2
(Memorandum from Sumita Chaudhuri to Elzeneiny, Aug. 18, 20@8accordance witkhe
terms of the 2004 agreement, she would have flexibility to wWays ofnon-standard length so
long as she completed 80 hours every two weekseerthe hours of 7:30 a.m. and 8:00 p.m.,
Monday through FridaySeeid. She would, howevehave to “adhere to OBP’s normal time
and attendance procedures, including prior approval from [her] supervisor for useedf lda
The Office indicated that it would review the accommodations in six moSiad.

In February 2009, the Office issued another memorandum, this time in response to a
letter that Dr. Mustafavrote on January 6 .equesing that Elzeneiny be allowed to wohfom
home. SeeChaudhurDecl, Exh. 3 (Memorandum from Chaudhuri to Elzeneiny, Feb. 23,
2009). The memo stated that she was authorized to work from home under three conditions: 1)
that she notify her supervisor of her intent to do so not later than 7:30 a.m. on the day she
planned to work from home; 2) that she keep “annotated time sheet[s] of the hours . . ’;worked
and3) that the hours “comport to OBP working houtg’e., Monday through Friday, 7:30 a.m.
to 8:00 p.m.

Yet by Marchof that yeay Elzeneiny’shealth had “deterioratedso she “went on
approved FMLA leave per [her] doctor’s order&lzeneiny Decl.§ Q9 This FMLA leave was
set to expirenJuly 1Q though shelid not return at that timeSeeMot., Exh. 18 (Declaration of
James Spaulding), Exh.(E-mail from Spaulding to Teresa Wilson (Aug. 18, 2009, 1&ED)).
Instead, on August 4, 2009, before she returned to \RorkMustafa wrote a lettéo the agency
noting, “In the past several months, | have recommended on more than one occasion that Ms.
Elzeneiny be provided the accommodation of the flexibility of working from hohenw

necessary with flexible hours pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Awt that it was



his “understanding that these accommodations were taken away from her in April 2008.”
Spaulding Decl., Exh. 2 (Letter from Mustafa to OBP, Aug. 4, 2009). He continued, “Over the
past several months, due to the stress in having to work during normal working hours without the
flexibility of working from home and other accommodations, | noticed a worsening of Ms.
Elzeneiny’s fibromyalgia symptoms both in severity and duration,” and that,dl@sult, it was
recommended that she take FMLA leave, which she dal."Though “her symptoms ha[d]

improved while on leave and she [wa]s able to perform the essential functions of hbejdig”

not recommend that she return to work under the same conditions on which shik lgftleed,

it was his “strong recommendation that Ms. Elzepenly return to work at [that] time if she

[wa]s afforded the accommodation of working from home with flexible hours, firstfalttiene

basis until [he] evaluate[d] her in 3 to 4 weekk]l! On a more permanent basis, he “strongly
recommend[ed] thathe be afforded the accommodations of working from home on an as needed
basis with a flexible work schedule as she had prior to April 20@B.'He concluded that

Plaintiff was “ready to return to work on August 10, 20081”

Plaintiff ultimatelyreturnedon August 25.SeeElzeneiny Decl., 1 9. James Spaulding,
the Associate Deputy CFO, expressed concerns about protaelingth anyadditional
accommodations because OBP had to re-work and re-publish the budgets thad yeal a
“fewer staff . . . © handle this workload.” Bail from Spaulding to WilsofAug. 18, 2009,
10:22 AM)). In his view, “offefing] additional accommodations — such as a return to the
accommodation she had for her psgtgery period- would greatly diminish [the office’s]
allity to deliver for the Mayor and Council.Id.

Neverthelesspn September 1, 2008e sent Plaintiff a memorandugnanting the request

for flexible hoursalthoughwith limitations. SeeSpaulding Decl., Exh. 3 (Memorandum from



Spaulding to Elzeneiny, Sept. 1, 2009pecifically,over the following four weeks, she would
be permitted to work from home for 32 hours in any 80-hour pay period, but those hours had to
be performed during OBP’s working houts.e., Monday to Fridy, from 7:30 a.m. to 8:00 p.m..
Seeid. She wouldlsoneed to notify her supervisor of her intent to work from honat later
than 8:30 am” on the date she planned to dddo.The memo concluded by delineating her
duties and responsibilitiesahcould be performed from h@and those that could not b&ee
id. Spauldinghassince explainethat the accommodation was “consistent with most of the
requests made by her doctors,” but that “[b]ecause of the need for a Budgett Amafyeak to
agency finance staff, managessd budget book production staff, . . . [the office] did not
authorize work for credit at 5:00 a.m. or 10:00 p.m. as suggested in Dr. Mustafa’s stdtement
Spaulding Decl., 1 7.

The accommodation approved instBeptember Stmemoultimately “continued beyond
the three to four week period granted.” Mot., Exh. 19 (Declaration of Gordon McDonajd), 1 4
seeMcDonald Decl.Exh. 1 (Memo from McDonald to Elzeneiny, Jan. 29, 2010). Dr. Mustafa
neverthelessent a letter on December 7, 2009, “express[ing]e@oncver OBP’s lack of
response to his recommendation that Ms. Elzeneiny be allowed to work from home at her
discretion without prior notice or approval from a supervisor.” McDonald Decl., {1 4. Gordon
McDonald, the Deputy Chief Financial Officéhus wrote a memorandutm Plaintiff reiterating
that she could work up to 32 hours from home per pay period, and that she could “work days of
non-standard lengthso long as the hours were completed between 7:30 a.m. and 8:00 p.m.
Monday through FridaySeeJanuary 29, 2010 Memo. le&plainedthat “[flor business
reasons,” however, the Office could not provide additional accommodatohnSpecifically,

“OBP’s work environment [wa]s constantly changing and evolving,” and althougth#uset

10



.. .schedules and calendars, . . . emergencies constdoilseawith little to no notice, which
mean(t]that an analyst working from home might not easily be able to meet the demands of the
office.” 1d. As far as the Court can tell, this accommodation neethin place over the next
year.

Then, on March 10, 201Elzeneiny submitted a second leave requagton March 17,
it was denied SeeMot., Exh. 20 (Declaration of LaSharn Moreland), 1A3tew days later,
Plaintiff's employment was terminate&eeid., 1 4. According to the District, itvas because
her supervisor, Eric Cannady, believed she was unable to perform the job comp&eeatl
Def.’s Statement of Facts, | 4ke alsdMot., Exh. 1 (Declaration of Eric Cannady), 11 2, 4-5.
Despite thigourported justification, howevethe agency reinstated Elzeneiny afike appealed
her termination antit was determined that an administrative error occurred and her FMLA
eligibility should have been considered under both Federal and District FMLA.&l&hak
Decl, 1 5.

Not long afterElzeneinyreturned to workshewas reassigned to a budgatalyst
position in another department, based on “her skills and inability to work in a fast paced
environment.”1d., 1 6. According to the District, e waghus“returnedto the same position,
but to a worksite that was less demantiinlgere was ndloss in seniority, grade or pay.”_Id.
Plaintiff avers, however, that in the new position she “was essentialiy giw work to dd,and
“[w]hat little work [she] was given involved data entry or copying.” Elzeneiny Decl., ).11(
From herpoint of view, “[tlhe position to which [she] was reassigned had no chance of career
advancenent. . . because [she] was no longer performing the budget analyst duties [she] had
been performing.”ld., § 11(m). She thus resignedaxsmonths laterin November 2011 See

Moreland Decl.{ 7.

11



B. Procedural Background

This case hawended its long and tortuous way through many procedural stages, and the
relevant ones anecounted in considerabdietail inthe Analysis sectiomfra. It is enough to
say here that Plaintiff first filed this suit against the District, its Chief FinancialeDffi¢atwa
Gandhi), and OCFO on May 13, 200&)g before her ultimate resignaticandthe case was
initially assigned to Judge Colleen Kolkeotelly. SeeECF No. 1 Her Complaint asserted
claims under Title Vliof the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2608,
the Americans with Debilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 121(# seq., and the D.C. Human Rights Act,
D.C. Code § 2-1401.04t seq. Defendants subsequently movedpartial dismisal, and on
March 29 2010, Judg&ollar-Kotelly issued an Opinion dismissing Gandhi and OCFO from the
suit she also dmisedPlaintiff's Title VII claim, as well aherDCHRA claim to the extent it

sought unliquidated damageSeeElzeneiny v. District of Columbj&699 F. Supp. 2d. 31

(D.D.C. 2010). The case wathen transferred to this Court in the spring of 20%&eDocke
Entry, March 29, 2011.

As the litigation progressed, Plaintiff twiseccessfullymoved to amend her Complaint.
Her First Amended Complaint, filed on October 31, 2011, added a cause of action under the
Family andMedical Leave Act Her Second Amended Complaint, filed on November 22, 2013,
added two counts the firstaugmentedherretaliationclaim under the ADA, and the second
expandederretaliation claimunder the FMLA.As it currentlystands, theperativeSecond
Amended Complaint comprises the following counts: ADA Violation (Count 1), DEHR
Violation (Count Il), FMLA Violation (Count Ill), Retaliationnder ADA (Count IV), and
Retaliation under FMLA (Count VNow, following the close of a second period of discovery,

the District move for summary judgment.

12



. Legal Standard
Summary judgment may be granted if “the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute
as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter oFkdv.R. CivP.

56(a);see alsd.iberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 247-48olcomb v. Powell, 433 F.3d 889, 895 (D.C.

Cir. 2006). A fact is “material” if it is capable of affecting the substantiveoougcof the
litigation. SeeLiberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 248olcomb, 433 F.3d at 895. A dispute is
“genuine” if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdioe honmoving

party. SeeScott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2004perty Lobby, 477 U.S. at 248; Holcomb,

433 F.3d at 895 A party assertinghat a fact cannot be or is genuinely disputed must support
the assertiohby “citing to particular past of materials in the record” oshowing that the
materials cited daot establish the absence or presence of a genuine dispute, or that an adverse
party cannot produce admissible evidence to sugperfact! Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1).

When a motion for summary judgment is under consideration, “[t]he evidence of the non-
movant is to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawarifidvor.” Liberty

Lobby, 477 U.S. at 255ee alsdMastro v. PEPCO, 447 F.3d 843, 850 (D.C. Cir. 2006); Aka v.

Wash Hosp Citr., 156 F.3d 1284, 1288 (D.C. Cir. 1998) panc). On a motion for summary

judgment, the Court must “eschew making credibility determinations or weitltergyvidence.”

Czekalski v. Peterg175 F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007). The nonmoving party’s opposition,

however, must consist of more than mere unsupported allegations or denials and must be
supported by affidavits, declarations, or other competent evidence, settingpaificfacts

showing that there is a genuine issue for triiggeFed R. Civ. P56(e);Celotex Corp. v.

Catrett 477 U.S. 317, 324 (1986). The nonmovant is required to provide evidence that would

permit a reasonable jury to find in its favor. Laningham v. Navy, 813 F.2d 1236, 1242 (D.C. Cir.

13



1987). If the nonmovant’s evidence is “merely colorable” or “not significantlygincdy”
summary judgment may be grantddberty Lobby, 477 U.S. at 249-50.
1.  Analysis

The District’s Motion for Summary Judgment presents several issues feiote¢iirst,
the aty contends that Counts IlI-V of Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint should be
dismissed because she failed to “cooperate[] with discovery and . . . prosecédgrdve
claims.” Mot. at 13. It then insists that it is entitled to judgment as a matter oflaer
DCHRA claim(Count Il)to the extent it idased on conduct prior to March 10, 2008, because
sheelected to pursue administrative remedies for those acts ingieddr Plaintiff's general
ADA claim (Count 1), it urges that she is barred from challenging much of the allegedly unlawful
conduct because she did not timely file an EEOC chalgeedto such actsAs to what remains
of these two countshe Districtnextargues that it acted in good faith and provided her with
nealy everyaccommodation she requestdtialso maintains that the conduct Elzeneiny
complains of simply does not rise to the level of a hostile work environment and was not so
unbearable as to establish a constructive discharge.

As a threshold mattethe Courfirst addresses Plaintiff's contention tlitashould
disregard theleclarations submitteid support oDefendant’s Motion because they are legally
deficient. Deciding otherwise, the Court next considers whether Counts IlI-V should be
dismissedas a discovery sanction. It thereafter moves to Couhtkobking first at their
permissible scope and finally at the merits of what is left standing.

A. Admissibility of Declarations

Elzeneinyinitially argues that thdeclarations the District submittén support of its

Motion are legally invalid and should not be consider@deOpp. at 2-3. She identifies three

14



specific flaws. First, in contravention of Federal Rule of Civitdeedure 56(¢4),% the
declarationstate that thewere made “to the best of the declarant’s knowleddermationand
belief,” rather tharsolelyonthe declarant’personal knowledgeSeeOpp.at 2. Secondlso in
violation of that rulethey did not affirmatively statéhat the declarantse@compéent to testify
to the matters addressdterein Seeid. Finally,the declarantdid notaverunder penalty of
perjurythat the statementsere true and correcas required by 28 U.S.C. § 1746 and Local
Rule 5.1(h. Seeid. at 2.

The Court agrees &h Defendant’'sleclarations were sloppitirafted It does not,
however believethat it mustdisregard them in their entirety:he last of the defectsi.e., the
failure to attestinder penalty of perjuryhat the affidavits are truend correct hasnow been
remedied, as thBistrict refiled each of tha with thenecessary avermengeeReply, Exh. 26

(Refiled Affidavits). This is sufficientSeeHainey v. Dep't of the Interior, 925 F. Supp. 2d 34,

41 n.5 (D.D.C. 2013) (“[W]hilehe Court reiterates that Mr. Lohr’s original affidavit satisfied
the requirements of 8 1746, the unequivocal statement in his revised declaration rempoves an
and all doubt.”).(The Court, for ease of reference, cites the original declarations, whittteare
same in substance.)

Thetwo remainingflaws present alightly toughker issue. “A principal command of Rule
56[(c)(4)]is straightforward: ‘Supporting and opposing affidavits’ on summadgment
motions ‘shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth facts as would be aemmissibl
evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to tiestifg matters stated

therein.” Longdrigan v. BI, 670 F.2d 1164, 1174 (D.C. Cir. 1981). And “[a]lthough the rule’s

2 Plaintiff cites to subsection (e) of Rule 56, but when the Rules areended in 2010, the provision addressing the
requirements for declarations and affidavits was moved to subsect{dgh (8geFed. R. Civ. P. 56 Adv. Comm.
Note (2010 Amends.).
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directive with respect to the admissibility of an affidavit’'s contents on sumndgynent has

been liberally construed, its requirement of personal knowledge by that &fisnequivocal,

and cannot be circumvented. An affidavit based merely on information and &elief i
unacceptable.d. (citations omitted). The D.C. Circuit has thus struck portadra affidavit

that could not have been made on personal knowledge and on which the affiant was therefore
incompetent to testifySeeid. at 1174-75 (finding affiant n@ompetent to testify to several
matters because a “[c]areful reading” of affidavit “reveals that a great deahoftwhys could

not possibly have been based on the affiant’s personal knowledge”). Wdntaeationdave,
moreover stated that theyra made on knowledgend beliefand do notlearly demonstrate the
affiants’ personal knowledge of the facts, the circuit has found it inappropriate to relynomathe

summary judgmentSeeHarris v. Gonzales, 488 F.3d 442, 446 (D.C. Cir. 2007).

Because Defendantteclarationdierestate that they are made ‘timowledge,
information andbelief,” the Court treads carefully relying on them.It acceps$ only those
statementé the declarationthat clearly indicate personal knowledgee, e.g.Moreland Decl.,
1 4 (“I received a termination request for Ms. Elzeneiny . . .. | reviewed and apgdreved t
termination request.”), or are supporteddofzquatelocumentationSee, e.g.Moreland Decl., §
4 (“[O]n April 27, 2011, the Agency reinstated Ms. Elzeneiny and approved her FMLA, eéfecti
March 9, 2011.”) (citing “Exhibit 6”); Moreland Decl., Exh. 6 (Letter from Morelamd t
Elzeneiny, Apr. 27, 2011) (“This letter reverses your March 22, 2011 terminatiendeatt
reinstates you with the Offecof the Chief Financial OfficOCFO). Per your request, the
OCFO is placing you on Family Medical Leave (FMLA) effective March 91201 The Court

believes that this determination strikes the appropriate balance.
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B. Countslll -V

The next threshold issugthe causes of aotn properly before the Court. In its Motion,
the District urges dismissal of CountsVMI-viz., FMLA violation, ADA retaliation, and FMLA
retaliation — of the Second Amended Complaint as a sanction for Plaintiff's “dilatory etihdu
during discovery.SeeMot. at 20. More specifically, it asserts that Elzeneiny “refus[ed] to make
herself available for a deposition” after lodging supplemental clairneriAmended
Complaints, and that such refusal constituted a “clear violation” of an order fre@dhbrt. See
Mot. at 16, 20. In support of its request, it invokes Federal Rule of Civil Proced)é23(A),
which authorizes sanctions when a party “fails to obey an order to provide or pscuiety,”
as well aRRule 41b), which states that “a defendant may move to dismiss the action or any
claim against it” where a plaintiff “fails to prosecute or to comply whése rules or a court
order.” Yet, while the Court possesses “broad discretion to impose sanctions foratiscov

violations,” Bonds v. Dist. of Columbia, 93 F.3d 801, 807 (D.C. Cir. 1996), it does not believe

such measures are appropriate here.

A brief recitation of the procedural history leading up to the present Motion may prove
useful. Elzeneiny initiatedHis suit on May 13, 2009, alleging discrimination and retaliation in
breach of théDA (Count lI)and the DCHRA (Count Il)SeeCompl., 11 16-25. Defendant
subsequently deposed her on December 1, 2@HE|zeneiny Depq and discovery closed just
a few weeks later. S&&CF No. 18 (Order of December 8, 2010).

Such pause, however, was merely temporary. In the ensuing years, Plaicgiff tw
amended her pleadingseach time with Defendant’s consent. &&&F No. 42 (October 28,

2011, First Motion to Amend Complaint); ECF No. 64 (November 20, 2013, Second Motion to

Amend Complaint). Both amendments added claims based on new factual develoginents.
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first time around, she incorporated a claim for violations of eA (Count Ill). SeeFirst
Am. Compl., 91 2836. In the next iteration, she addsxparate countsr retaliation under the
ADA (Count IV) and FMLA (Count V).SeeSec.Am. Compl., 11 34-57.

The Court, accordingly, issued a new Scheduling Order on December 4, 2013, which
reopened discovery for the supplemental counts through March 7, 2014. That deadline was later
extended on multiple occasioseeMinute Orders of Marcl3, 2014, May 5, 2014 and July 2,
2014, in large part due to scheduling difficultiés.particular, Elzeneinfiad since moved back
to her nativeEgypt and, due to health and monetary constraintstesgred “ample time to
obtain a reasonably priced plane ticket to come to the United States for herioleposCF
No. 70 (July 1, 2014, Motion for Extensionfme).

On October 9, 2014, ten months after reopening discovery, the Court held a status
conference At that hearing- which the Court has reviewéd listening to theudio recording —
it told both parties that this londelayedcase simply had to move forward. In pursuit of that
ambition, the Court directed that Elzeneiny’s deposition be taken in the Distriotuwrhia
within 45 days.SeeOctober 9, 2014, Minute Order (“[T]he Court ORDERS that . . . Plaintiff's
deposition shall take place in Washington, DC, by November 24, 2014 . . . .”). Notwithstanding
the Court’s unambiguous ditive,however,Plaintiff’'s deposition remains outstanding.

Defendant lays the blame for that lapse squarely at Elzeneiny’s feet. Accturdire
District, “The burden was on Plaintiff to comply with the Court’s order and Hfdmited to do
so.” Reply at 6. Indeed, says Defendant, “Plaintiff intentionally refus[e@}torr to the
District for a deposition in clear violation tifis Court’s order of October 9, 2014.” Mot. at 20-
21. It further notes that “she did not seek an extension” or “a modification of the’ artr,

instead “simply chseto ignore the order.” Mot. at 2Defendant also statéisat it sent an-e
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mail to Plaintiff's counsel on November 7, 2014, inquiring about dates for the deposition, but it
received no respons&eeReply, Exh. 27 (E-mail from David Jackson to Kathy Potter (Nov. 7,
2014, 4:01 PM) It believes thatwsch dereliction on Plaintiff's pawarrants sanctions.
Elzeneinytells a different story. She maintains that she “has at all times been prepared to
make herself available for deposition.” Opp. at 3. She additionally contends thatdber®g¢
2014, Minute Order “did not impose upon [her] a duty to set her own deposition,” that her
counsel did not receive the November 7, 2014, e-mail, and — most fundamentally — that she did
not “willfully or otherwise disobey this Court’'s order3eeid. at 68. Rather, as she recounts,
her physician advised her after the statusference that she should not travel in lighher
ongoing medical issuesSeeid. at 7. id., Exh. 2 (Note from Dr. Hussien H. Rizk, October 21,
2014. Although she remained willing to travel to the United States for a depositioittlfystr
necessaryher counsel eailed Defendant to ask whethewould be willing to depose héy
videoor Skypein light of her doctor’'s recommendatioikeeOpp., Exh. 3 (Bwnalil from Kathy
Potter to David Jackson (Nov. 12, 2014, 10:21 AM)he District never respoed. SeeOpp. at
7. In fact Defendant was “utter[ly] silen[t]” on the subject of the deposition until Jrié
2015, at which point it informed her attorney of its intention to seek dismissal of Cdtivits Il
Seeid. at 8.
The D.C. Circuit has cawned that “dismissal is a sanction of last resort to be applied
only after less dire alternatives have been explored without success’ or wowdsiypyirove

futile.” Bonds,93 F.3dat 808 (quoting Shea v. Donohoe Constr. Co., 795 F.2d 1071, 1075 (D.C.

Cir. 1986)). Although it is certainly frustrated by the lack of progress, the Goestnot believe
that such a draconian measure is justified here. According to Plaintiff's accandtas

corroborated by her evidentiary saissions- her counsel attempted to coordinate the deposition

19



prior to the November 24 deadline. éhDefendant’s counsel claims he never received that
communication, he does na¢serthat it wasneversent. That some technical or human error
apparently prevented thenaail from reaching its intended recipient does not undermine the fact
that Elzeneinythrough her counsehade goodaith effortsto comply withthe Court’s order.

To be sure, Plaintiff could have done more, such as following up with Defendant by
phone or notifying the Court of her inability to make contact with opposing couBselhe
District couldalsohave stepped up its efforts, and, in any event, Elzeneiny’s failure to chase
downDefendanto arrangeher own deposition does not warrant the harsh sanction of dismissal.
While the Court idoath to extend this alreagprotracted litigation any furtheit, will deny the
District’s request without prejudicandwill allow additional time for the parties to complete
Plaintiff's deposition. It will discuss the precise logistics of that deposition, as well as a briefing
schedle for the District to renew thislotion, at a subsequesttatus hearing.

C. Permissible Scope of Counts | and I

Before reaching the merits of Plaintiff's claimsder Counts | and,lthe Districtraises
two procedural hurdles to their viabilityit first argueghatshe cannot obtairelief under the
DCHRA for conducthat occurregbrior to March 10, 2008, because she elected to pursue
administrative remedie®fthose acts It then assertdhat she cannot seek religider the ADA
for certainconductbecause she did not fileienely charge with the EEOCAgreeing on both
fronts, the Court will address these issues in turn.

1. DCHRA

The DCHRA was enacted “to s&e an end . . . to discrimination for any reason other

than that of individual merit, including . . . discrimination by reason of . . . disability.” D.C

Code § 2-1401.01. To aid its enforcement, the Act provides:
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Any person claiming to be aggrieved by an unlawful discriminatory
practice shall have a cause of action in any court of competent
jurisdiction for damages and such other remedies as may be
appropriateunless such person has filed a complaint [with the D.C
Office of Human Rights] provided, that where the Office has
dismissed such complaint on the grounds of administrative
convenience, or where the complainant has withdrawn a complaint,
such person shall maintain all rights to bring suit as if no complaint
had been filed.

Id. 8 2-1403.16(ajemphasis added)individualsallegingviolations of the DCHRAare thus
offered two possible paths to redress: they may file a comgi#in@rin court or with OHR.See

id.; 8 2-1403.03(b). In general, they cannot do b&&eCarter v. District of Columbie®80

A.2d 1217, 1223 (D.C. 2009) (“As we have explained, the jurisdiction of the court and OHR are
mutually exclusive in the first instance. Thus, where one opts to file with OHR she or

generally mg not also file a complaint in court.”) (internal quotation marks, alterations, and
citations omitted).Indeed, acea plaintiff files a complaint with OHR, sheay only file an
independent suit in two narrow instancdé®©HR dismissed the case on administrative
convenience oif the individual withdrev her OHR complaint lefore a probableause

determination warendered SeeJones v. District of Columbia, 41 F. Supp. 3d 74, 79 (D.D.C.

2014) (citing Anderson v. U.S. Safe Deposit Co., 552 A.2d 859, 861-63 (D.C. 1989)).

Contending that neither of these exceptions is applicable herBjdtrictargueshat
Plaintiff cannotassert & CHRA claim for actsprior to March 10, 2008, because she ctiose
seek reliefor thoseactsthroughOHR's administrativechannels In supporof its position it
notesthatElzeneinyfiled a Charge of Discrimination with OHR on March 28, 20fl&gng
discrimination fromFebruary 1, 2003, onward§eeMot., Exh. 21 (March 28, 2006, EEOC
Charge of Discriminatignat 1 OHR thereafteiconducted an investigation arsdued a Letter

of Determination on October 31, 2007, in which it concluthed Plaintiff had failed testablish
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probable cause to belie@BP had denied her reasonable accommodations, subjected her to
harassment, or retaliated against HeeeMot., Exh. 22 (OHR Letter of Determination) at 24.
Elzeneiny applied for reconsideration, and on March 10, 2008, the Director of OHR iipheld
earlierdecision SeeMot., Exh. 23 (OHR Reconsideration Determination).

Perhaps because it is so well established that aggrieved individuals must choesea betw
filing a complaint with OHRor in a court of competent jurisdiction — subject onlyhtetwo
aforementione@xceptions- Plaintiff does not contest this point in her Opposition. #whde
the Court is somewhat skeptical that the relevanbffudate is the date on which OHR affirmed
its decision, as opposed to, say, the last date covered by the agencyigativasPlaintiff has
failed to respond to Defendant’s argument on this front, effectively conceding the et

e.g, Hopkins v. Women'’s Div., General Bd Global Ministries 284 F. Supp. 2d 15, 25

(D.D.C. 2003) (“It is well understood in this Circuit that when a plaintiff files an oppodi a

dispositive motion and addresses only certain arguments raised by the defendant, aycourt m

treat those arguments that the plaintiff failed to address as conceded.)KEitd v. Bender,

127 F.3d 58, 67-68 (D.C. Cir. 1997), and Stephenson v. Cox, 223 F. Supp. 2d 119, 121 (D.D.C.

2002)). She, accordinglgamot seek relief under the DCHRA for condtlwat occurred before
March 10, 2008.
2. ADA
The Districtalsoquestionghe permissible scope of Plaiifis ADA claim on the ground
that she failed to exhaust her administrative remedies with the EEIOf@ specifically it
believes that she filed hérst EEOC Chargef Discriminationtoo late to challenge many of the
allegedly unlawful practicesnd that her second EEOC Charge of Discrimination was too

vague The Court will analyze these issues separately.
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a. Timeliness of First EEOC Charge
It is well established that “[b]efore bringing suit in federal court, ADA plaintiffs lik
those under Title VII, mst exhaust their administrative remedies by filing an EEOC charge and

giving that agency a chance to act on Marshall v. Fed. Exp. Corp., 130 F.3d 1095, 1098

(D.C. Cir. 1997) (citing 42 U.S.C. § 12117(a) and Park v. Howard Univ., 71 F.3d 904, 907-09

(D.C. Cir. 1995))see alsal2 U.S.C. § 12117 (incorporating procedural provisions of Title VII

for ADA causes of actionMayers v. Laborers’ Health & Safety Fund of North America, 478

F.3d 364, 368 (D.C. Cir. 2007)Tihe ADA incorpaates the procedural provisions of Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964 . . .)” Suchcharge musbe filed “within a specified period . . .

after the alleged unlawful employment practice occurrétbtige v. United Airlines, 666 F.

Supp. 2d 14, 20 (D.D.C. 2009) (quoting Ledbetter v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., Inc., 550

U.S. 618, 623-24 (2007)).p8cifically, aa aggrieved individual must file@argewithin 180
daysof the alleged discriminatory aainless she has “instituted proceedings witheseSor local
agency with authority to grant or seelief from such practicéjn which caseshe must filehe
chargewithin 300 days.See42 U.S.C. § 20008{e)(1).

The Districtconcedes that Plaintiff had the benefit of the longer@&9iling window.
SeeMot. at 25. It argues, however, that she did not fileirdrEEOC targe until March 28,
2006, andhatmuch of the conduct of which she complains occurred more than 300 days before
that date-i.e, prior toJune 1, 2005. Such acts, it dooes, arehus not properly before this
Court.

In response, Elzeneirassertghat there is a genuine dispute of material &scto the
date on which shel&d herinitial EEOC charge Sheinsiststhat she filed it olbecember 19,

2005. Shalsoargueghatthe Court carand should consider conduct that occurred outside
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the 300-day window +e., beforeFebruary 22, 2005 because she has allegamhtinuing
violationsof the ADA. In such instances, she argubkthat matters is that she filéhe charge
within 300 days o&nyof the discriminatory, harassing, or retaliatory acts.

As to the first point, th€ourt agrees that there iganuine dispute ohaterialfact
regardingthe date on which Elzeneitiyed her first EEOC chargefor itspart, he District has
submtted a Charge of DiscriminatiodatedMarch 28, 2006.SeeMarch 28, 2006, EEOC
Charge of Discriminationlt has alsgrovidedexcerpts from Plaintiff' sleposition in which, it
claims, she admitted & the March 2006 chargeas the firsthatshe filed. SeeElzeneiny
Depo. at 144:18-145:4Thetestimony howeverjs notas clear as Defendant sugge$aintiff
has moreoversubmittedwvhat appears to keeCharge of Discriminatiodated December 19,
2005, geDecember 19, 200EEOC Charge of Discriminatioas well as aworndeclaration
statingthat she filed an Affidavit and Charge of Discrimination with OHR on December 19,
2005,whichwas crosdiled with the EEOC SeeElzeneiny Decl., § 7Because the Court
cannot ow resolve thidactualdispute, itassumeshat Plaintiff is right-i.e., that shdiled on
the earlier date antthat February 22, 2005, is the relevantaffittor determining which acts are
time barred.

As to Plaintiff'ssecond point, shis correct thatif the alleged acts constitute one similar
pattern or practice and at least one illegal act took place within the filing perérdthe
complaint of discrimination is not tirAgarred and acts outside the statutory period may be
considered for purposes of liabilityMayers 478 F.3dat 368 (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted). The D.C. Circuit has pointed out, however, that the continuing-violations
doctrine “has two crucial limiting principles, . . . both derived from thier&me Court’s ruling

in National Railroad Passenger Corp. v. Morgan, 536 U.S. 101 (2002)first is that “the
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doctrine has no applicability to discrete acts such as termination, failprenmte, denial or
transfer, or refusal to hire because each incident of discrimination ante&@tory adverse
employment action constitutes a separate actionable unlawful employmeiteptddiayers

478 F.3dat 368 (quoting Morgan, 536 U.S. at 114) (internal quotation marks and alterations
omitted). “[D]is crete discriminatory acts are,” therefore, “not actionable if time barred, even

when they are related to acts alleged in timely filed chdrddergan 536 U.S. at 113

(emphasis added)The secontimiting principleis that “although plaintiffs may invakthe
continuing violations doctrine for claims that by their nature occur not ‘on angyartday’
but ‘over a series of days or perhaps yearsi'e., hostileenvironment claims “they must
allege that at least one ‘act contributing to the claiougeed] within the filing period.”
Mayers 478 F.3d at 368 (quoting Morgan, 536 U.S. at 115).

The firstMorganprinciple disposes of many of the allegisicriminatory and retaliatory
actsthat Plaintiff seeks to challenge herféor instance, tthe extent the District failed to
provideherwith reasonable accommodat&in a timely mannergach suchiailure constituted a
discrete act of discrimination that ended, at the very latest, on the day tredéevaat
accommodation was provide&eeid. at 36869 (“[Defendant’s]failure to provide the electric
tools was a discrete act of discrimination that ended, at the latest, in June 20Q@]when
provided the requested equipment — well outside the 180-day period leading up to [Plaintiff's
EEOC canplaint.”). Plaintiff is thusbarred from challenging any potentfailure of the District
to timely provide: 1) handicap accasshe Wilson Buildingwhich was granted in December
2003 2) an ergonomichair, which was provided in November 20@2eMay 7, 2004, Bryant
Memoat 1; 3) adesktop printer, which was provided sometime before May Z¥®&id. at 2; 4)

a laptop computer to use at home, which was provided in 288#l.; 5) a flexible arrivaltime,

25



which was approved in November 2088gid. at 2-3; 6) permission to stay in her cubicle,
which itformally provided in February 2004eeFebruary 26, 2004, Bryant Menab 2 and 7
approval to use taxi cabs for worltated travel, which was grantedFebruary 2004, &gid.

To the extent the District retaliated against her for exercising her rights thed&DA,
each adverse action was a¢sdiscrete actubject to the 30@ay filing period SeeMorgan, 536
U.S. at 114 (“Each incident of discrimination and each retaliatory adverse engpibgiecision

constitutes a separate actionable ‘unlawful employment practicge®)also, e.gDickens v.

Dep'’t of Consumer & Regulatory Affairs, 298 F. App’x 2, 3 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (unpublished)

(notingthatMorgan*“establishes that for statutd-limitations purposes there are only two kinds
of Title VIl violations: ‘discrete acts’ and ‘hostile work environments’Any retaliatoryactions
taken beford-ebruary 22, 200%yerethusnot timely challenged before the EE@Gd cannot be
pursued here.

Plaintiff is right, however, to point ouhat “[h]ostile environment claims are different in
kind from discrete acts.Morgan, 536 U.S. at 115As the Supreme Court explainedMorgan
such a claim “is composed of a series of separate acts thetiv@ly constitute one ‘unlawful
employment practice.”ld. at 117 (quoting 42 U.S.C. 8§ 2008€)(1)). Thus, adong as “an act
contributing to the claim occurs within the filing period, the entire time period dfdside
environment may be considered by a court for the purposes of determining lialdityyet
courts evaluating the timeliness of hostierk-environment claimsnust bear in mind that

[b]oth incidents barred by the statute of limitations and ones not
barred can qualify as “part of the same actionable hostile
environment claim” only if they are adequately linked into a
cokerent hostile environment claim if, for example, they

“involve[] the same type of employment actions, occur[] relatively
frequently, and [are] perpetrated by the same managers.
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Baird v. GotbaumBaird 1), 662 F.3d 1246, 1251 (D.C. Cir. 20X &}terations in original)

(quoting_Morgan, 536 U.S. at 120-21)he timeliness oElzeneiny’sEEOC chargehus
depends on whether at least one ofatiscomprising a hostile work environment took place
after February 22, 2005. Withoygtdelving into whetkr the acts she complains of are
sufficiently relatedand severgthe Court ntes thaat least some of the conduct Sags was part
of a hostile work environmeimiccurredafter February 22, 20055eeDecember 19, 2005, EEOC
Charge (averringhat in June 2005, her “midyear evaluation for FY 2005 reflected many
accusations whichave not been substantiated”). The Cpactordinglywill not dismiss the
hostilework-environmentlaim on timeliness grounds.
b. Adequacy of Second EEOC Charge

Althoughits argument is rather hazy, the District also contdst adequacy of Plaintiff's
second EEOC Charg&eeMot. at 27. It asserts that the Charge, which alleged disability
discrimination and retaliation beginning on April 3, 2008, did not “identify a singleadésact
of discrimination or retaliation.ld. It also notes that “Plaintiff d[id] not . . . identify any hostile
act committed by any supervisor or by any other perstuh.”

As discussed above, exhaustion is a prerequisite to bringing suit under the ADA. And
“[a] vague or circumscribed EEOCarige will not satisfy the exhaustion requirement for claims
it does not fairly embrace.Marshall 130 F.3dat 1098. This is so because ‘Jajving a
complaint to encompass allegations outside the ambit of the predicate EEOCvahishe
circumvent the EOC'’s investigatory and conciliatory roles well as deprive the chargpdrty
of notice of the charge, as surely as would an initial failure to file aytigEleOC charge.”ld.

(quoting_Schnellbaecher v. Baskin Clothing Co., 887 F.2d 124, 127 (7th Cir. {i98&)al

guotation marks omitted)At the same timg‘every detail of the eventual complaint need not be
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presaged in the EEOC filing.Id. Rather, “the substance of an ADA claim, like that of a Title
VII claim, must fall within the scope of ‘the administrative investigation that caomab/ be
expected to follow the charge of discriminationld. (quotingPark 71 F.3d at 907)).
Here,Plaintiff's secondEEOC Chargastated:

On March 10, 2008 the DC Office of Human Rights ruledthat

the Office of Budget & Planning had accommodated me. Shortly

after the ruling by DCOHR, the previously granted reasonable

accommodations for my disability were removed. | continue to

need the flexibility to work at home, and to have flexible work

hours. lhave also been retaliated against for having filed the

complaint with DCOHR and for filing a complaint with the DC

Office of Disability Rights in my quest for reasonable

accommodation.
Mot., Exh. 24 (EEOC Charge of Discrimination, March 9, 200%9jhoudh Defendant seems to
contend that this did not clearly articulat®y claim, it plainly “embracéd]” her contentiornthat
she was discriminated and retaliated against winefypril 2008, the District revoked the
accommodations it had previously providedhen To the extent Defendant’s argument is that
she should have identified every specific accommodation that was withdtaswmjstaken.
The EEOC'’s investigation would surely have looked into this and the District woudahtert
haveknownwhich acommodations it had previously provided and thus which accommodations
were alleged to have been taken awaiis Charge did not, however, encompass any potential

claim of discrimination she may hakeadfor the District’s failure to promptly provide speech-

recognition software in 2006 or VPN access in 208&eMarshall 130 F.3d at 1098 (plaintiff

failed to exhaust where EEOC charge “ma[de] no mention of any refusal to accatarned
lifting limitations or even of her termination”).
The Court questions whether other clainmieh ador the denial of her request to work

from home withoutimitation andfor delays in providing filing cabinets in 201thavebeen
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properly exhausted. Neither party has submitted an EEOC Charge evidenciny sticbcause
the District has not raised that argument, the Court will not disiméss on this basis.

Now having defined the proper, albeit substantially limisahpe of Counts | and the
Courtmay proced to the merits of what remain3his, the city correctly contends, is very little.

D. Merits of Counts | and Il

In attacking Elzaeiny’sextantallegations, the Distrighsists that it acted in good faith
and provided her with “just about every accommodat[ion] she requested.” Mot3@t 20also
contends that the alleged harassment did not rise to the level of a hostile work enviyamache
that Plaintiff cannot show that she was constructively dischangetherwise retaliated against
The Court will address these argumentgunm.

In doing so, it analyzes her claims under the ADA and DCHRA simultaneously, as the
standards under both agefficiently similarunder the circumstances to dispense with

independent analysisSee, e.g.Hunt v. District of Columbia, 66 A.3d 987, 990 (D.C. 2013)

(“Our decisions under the DCHRA regarding whether an employee was disttechiagainst
because of a ‘disability’ effectively incorporate judicial constructioretd#ted anti

discrimination provisions of the Americans with Disabilities A¢tGiles v. Transit Employees

Fed. Credit Union, No. 14-7055, 2015 WL 42177872 (D.C. Cir. July 14, 2015) (“When

evaluating claims brought under the DCHRA, decisions construing the ADA alider@als
persuasive.”) (internal quotation marks, citatipand alterations omitted}zor ease of analysis

and becausBefendant is not prejudiced — the Court also applies the broader ADA window (for
violations after February 22, 2005), as opposed to the nari@@HRA one (anything after

March 10, 2008).
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1. Failureto Provide Reasonable Accommodations

To make out dailure-to-accommodate claimnder the ADA, Elzeneiny must show that:
(1) she was disabled withthe meaning of the ADA, (2) the Distriatas aware of her disability;
(3) she could have done her job with reasonable accommodations; and (4) she was denied such
accommodationsSee42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), (b)(5)(A); Carr v. Reno, 23 F.3d 525, 529 (D.C.
Cir. 1994). The Districtconceds, for purposes of its Motion, that Plaintiff had a disability and
that it was aware of this disabilitybeeMot. at 28-29.1t states that “Plaintiff cannot, however,
establish the third and fourth element&d” at 29.

In her declaration and brie®faintiff acknowledges that stie/as provided with many of
the[] accommodationghat she requeste&eeElzeneinyDecl.,{ 5 Opp. at 11.Her principal
complaint isthat “it was months before [she] received many” of them, “and in the case of VPN
[access]jt took three years.Elzeneiny Decl.| 5.

The D.C. Circuit has suggested that “there are certainly circumstances in wioict-a *
delayed accommodation could be considered’ unreasonable and hence ‘actionable under the

ADA.” Mogenhan v. Napolitano, 613 F. 3d 1162, 1167-68 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (qudaggrs

478 F.3d at 368)Other circuits and courts have likewiszognized thatat some point, a delay

in providing an accommodation couwtdnstitutean ADA violation. SeeSelenke v. Med.

Imaging of Colo., 248 F.3d 1249, 1262 (10th Cir. 2001) (citing cases in which courts concluded
that delays in providing reasonable accommodations could violate ADA); Jaynnéhte
Wagner Inc.233 F.3d 1014, 1017 (7th Cir. 2000) (noting that “unreasonable delay in providing

an accommodation can provide evidence of discriminati¢tétazes v. JacksoB66 F. Supp.

2d 57, 70 (D.D.C. 2005)eiterman v. Johnson, 60 F. Supp. 3d 166, 181 (D.D.C. 2014)

(declining to grant defendant summary judgment on ground thiatiffi ultimately got
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requested accommodatian light of threeyear delay) Such courts have identified factors to
aid indeterminng whether a delay wagasonable ocunreasonableincluding“the length of the
delay, the reasons for the delay, whetheremployer has offered any alternative
accommodations while evaluating a particular request, and whether the enmaleyeted in
good faith.” Selenke 248 F.3d at 12683. The acceptable timetable thus vadepending on
the nature of theequest and the circumstances of ezase.

As discussed previously, manytbk delays with whicHPlaintiff takes issuare not
subject to challenge becaus®e did not file a related EEOC Charge in temne because she
elected to pursue administrative remediesugh OHR Indeedthe onlypotential“‘delay” that
remaings the promptness with whicthe Office approved Plaintiff's request to use empty filing
cabinets in 2010.

On thisclaim, however Plaintiff doesnot point toany evidence establishingpecific
factsabout this delay, such as when il made the request thelength of timebefore it was
approved.Indeed, all that she has citedthis claimis her own declaration, in whidhe states
in very general terms that she requested &waafaccanmodations anthat while “many’ of
these were providedit‘was months before [she] received many of thé[r&lzeneiny Decl., 11
4-5. This isobviouslyinsufficientevidence ta@o to a jury, particularly where the Court remains
uncertain why such filing cabinets were necessary.

That leaves two remaininrgccommodationssues The first is whether the District
improperly revokedaertainaccommodations in 2008. On this front, Plaintiff besrral that
“[s]hortly after the March 10, 20080HR] Determination was issued, Defendant removed all of
[her] accommodations until March 2009 . . ..” Elzeneiny Decl., JI# District also concedes

that “there was a brief discontinuation of flextime and work from homenacodations in late
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2007 or early 2008 . . . .” Mot. at 31 (citing Chaudhuri Decl., §Y. 3t states in its Motion that
these were reingtad on April 3, 2008, though the supporting declaration suggests that certain
accommodations were no&eeChaudhuri Decl., { 4 (noting that in April 2008, OBP “notified
Ms. Elzeneiny that it was terminating the temporary authorization tarsign a liberal, non-
predetermined basis”)As Plaintiff contends that sonesecommodationgere rescinded and
Defendantasnot clearly articulatd why, the Court cannot concluds a matter of lawhat this
suspension in accommodatiomasjustifiable

The second issue \¢hether the District improperly refused to follow the
recommendation of Plaintiff’'s doctovghen she retmed from FMLA leave in August 2009n
her Opposition, Plaintiff stresses that Dr. Mustafa had “recommended that dile tweveork
from home on a flexible schedule with the aid of a laptop computer on an as needed basis.” Opp.
at12. She also notes that Dr. Wilsatommended the samil. at 12. “Yet, Defendant put
conditions on the accommodatiénssuch as having to complete her work within certain hours
—“that were not in keeping with what her doctors had recommendigd.”

The District has, however, provided undisputettience hat granting thee August 2009
accommodations requested by her doctayald have causttan undue burdenSpecifically, it
has stated that allowing Plaintiff “to work from home without prior notice for arfimtietime
period” would have “result[ed] in the elimination of 30% of her job responsibilitiasirng an
undue burden on her managers and colleagues who would have to perform her work instead.”
Chaudhuri Decl., § 5. It has also explained that at the time of Plaintiff's requiasgust 2009,
OBP was handling additional work andests as a result of having towrgte the budget that
year Because Elzeneirgywork required that she “speak to agency finance staff, managers, and

budget book production staff, . th¢ Office]did not authorize work for credit at 5:00 a.m. or
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10:00 p.m. as suggested in Dr. Mustafa’s statement.” Spaulding DecR|&i6tiff does not
offer any retort. The Court, accordingly, finds that she has failec#deca dispute of fact as to
whether thee August 2009 ccommodation would have caused Defendant an undue burden.
2. Hostile Work Environment

The District next argues that Plaintiff cannot establish that she was subjecteostdea
work environment.SeeMot. at 35. In doing so, it does not contest that the ADA proddes
cause of action for hostile work environmentshilthis Circuit dos not appear to have
explicitly recognized such a claim under the ADA, the Court presumes that d.w&ed e.q.,
Pantazes366 F. Supp. 2dt 70-71 (denying employer summary judgment on hostdek-

environment claim under Rehabilitation Adtenry v. Guest Servs., Inc., 902 F. Supp. 245, 252

n.9 (D.D.C. 1995) (holding that harassment standard from Title VIl applies to hanhstanas

under ADA);see alsd.anman v. Johnson County, Kansas, 393 F.3d 1151, 1155 (10th Cir. 2004)

(holding such clens are actionable under the ADAhaver v. Independent Stave Co., 350 F.3d

716, 719 (8th Cir. 2003same) Fox v. General Motors Corp., 247 F.3d 169, 176 (4th Cir. 2001)

(same) Flowers v. Southern Regional Physician Servs., Inc., 247 F.3d 229, 232 (5th Cir. 2001)

(same).

The District focuses its challengastead, on whether the purported conduct rises to the
level of a hostile work environmengEeeMot. at 34-35.Case law teachdbat plaintiffs facea
high bar when bringing such claims. To prigéwaey must establish that they were subjected to
“ discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insult’ that is ‘sufficiently severe ovasve to alte
the conditions of [their] employment and create an abusive working environmenksthBa

Kempthane, 550 F.3d 1191, 1201 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (quoting Harris v. Forklift Sys., Inc., 510

U.S. 17, 21 (1993)). Courts evaluating such claims lodth®totality of the circumstances,
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including the frequency of the discriminatory conduct, its severity, its offemsss, and whether

it interferes with an employee’s work performanc#’ (citing Faragher v. City of Boca Ratpn

524 U.S. 775, 787-88 (1998)).

As is consistent with the rest of Plaintiff’'s Opposititire sectionof her briefaddressing
Defendant’s arguments ohis claim offers little in the way of factual or legal analysidter
stating the general law on hostilgork-environmemclaims, she asserts only that “[v]ery rarely
will such factbased determinations be appropriate for determination on summary judgment,”

Opp. at 13 (quoting Armstrong v. Reno, 172 F. Supp. 2d 11, 24 (D.D.C. 2001)), and that

“facially neutral incidents may .. be considered as part of the totality of the circumstances
supporting a plaintiff's hostile work environment claim if a trier of factid@aasonably
conclude that they were, in fact, based on the plaintiff's protected stadugquoting_Mason v.
Geithner 811 F. Supp. 2d 128, 180 (D.D.C. 2011)) (internal quotation marks, citations, and
alterations omitted) She does not even bother to describe the acts she contends wefe par
hostile work environment. Rather, gnerely cites to a single paypaph from her declaration as
evidence of such claim.

In that paragraph, Elzeneiayers:

a. The Branch Chief for Administration haiwtlivered a letter to
my physician in an attempt to communicate with him about my
disability without my permission;

b. | was acased of wrongdoing where there was no evidence of

wrongdoing;

| was denied proper performance evaluations;

After being promoted, the paperwork to implement the

promotion was not submitted or acted on for over eight months;

My supervisor constantly interfed with my ability to work;

My supervisor rummaged through my personal belongings;

My accommodation requests were repeatedly delayed,;

| was granted FMLA leave and then sent a letter while on FMLA

leave denying the leave;

oo

S@ ™o
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i. As the hostile work environment arisified, | was presented
with a Performance Improvement Plan (“PIP”) giving me only
8 days to improve at a time when | was experiencing significant
health problems that resulted in my doctor recommending that |
go on FMLA leave;

j. 1'was terminated while oBMLA leave without explanation;

k. After winning an appeal of my termination, | was reinstated on
April 27, 2011, and placed on FMLA leave effective March 9,
2011, even though | had been ready and able to return to work
for some time and had not requested to continue to be on FMLA
leave;

[.  Upon returning back to work, | was not reinstated in my prior
position or a similar position. | was reassigned to a position in
ERDC and was essentially given no work to do. What little work
| was given involved data entry oopying;

m. The position to which | was reassigned had no chance of career
advancement in my field because | was no longer performing the
budget analyst duties | had been performing.

Elzeneiny Decl., § 11.

Her EEOC Charge adds some meat to these bdmegytt only a little. For instance,
presumably referring to the incident mentioned in (a) above, it stated that in No\z0Ber
“Respondent . . . hand delivered a letter directly to my physician, inquiring about mgiaondi
without my approval . ..” December 19, 2005, EEOC Chargeeegningly in reference to (c)
above, she stated, “I have been treated differently from my co-workers inythat m
commendations from the agencies are not included in my evaluations . . . ,” and, “in my FY 2004
Evaluation, Respondent admonished me for a time extension for a project, which had been
approved for another co-worker, but not mentioned as a negative in their evaluations.”
handful of additional acts of “harassmeaté alsanentioned in the EEOC Charge, sadthe
District's “insisting that [she] move to another cubicle in December 2003”; Ay&tanding
over [her] while [she] wasatking on the phone to [her] phiitian”; the Officés including
“negative comments . . . about [her] work in the passback folders which are openly d&en by t

whole office”; and supervisors “not be[ing] discresie] about [her] condition.”Id.
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Considered together, this grab bag of vaguely referenced incidents is not enoughtto defea
summary judgment. For one thing, many of these statemertisthreoo conclusory and too
nebulous. She does not offer any specific evidence or facts to demonstrate, ficejristav her
performance evaluations were improper, how her supervisor “constantfeiatd with her
work, or how her supervisor “rummaged” through her personal belongings. Shelgimilar
provides no evidence regarding the frequency of such conduct or its se$e@reene v.

Dalton 164 F.3d 671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (“Although, as a rule, statements made by the party
opposing a motion for summary judgment must be accepted as true for the purpasg ofrul
that motion, some statememtie so conclusory as to come within an exception to that rigeg);

alsoHolmesMatrtin v. Sebelius, 693 F. Supp. 2d 141, 161 (D.D.C. 2010); Ware v. Hyatt Corp.,

No. 12-395, 2015 WL 739857, at *8 (D.D.C. Feb. 23, 2015) (“[R]egarding the palhreg,
plaintiff does not attempt to date or quantify his general allegations that Olson c¢allémch
man’ ‘frequently’ or ‘a lot of times,” and “[i]t is plaintiff’'s duty, in oppogirsummary
judgment, to establish more than ‘[tjhe mere existence of a scofté@idence in support’ of his
position.”) (quoting Anderson, 477 U.S. at 252).

For another, while the connection between her disability status and some of thése ac
clear— such as her Branch CHgeattempting to communicate directly with her doctshe does
not bother to tie much of this conduct to her disabled status. She offers no evidence, for
example, that her supervisor rummaged through her things, did not include commendations in
her evaluations, or made unsubstantiated allegations ofydoorgbecause ofier protected

status.See e.qg, Hussain v. Gutierrez, 593 F. Supp. 2d 1, 7 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (“Hussain fails to

demonstrate that Rundell’s yelling and screaming at her was based onuseast@imember of

a protected class.”Badibanga v. Howard Univ. Hosp., 679 F. Supp. 2d 99, 104 (D.D.C. 2010)
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(“[T]he allegations that are unrelated to Mr. Badibanga'’s race/ethnicity, suné ategations
that he was disciplined when others were not and that he was falsely accused afdeging r

camot support a claim for hostile work environmentKglley v. Billington, 370 F. Supp. 2d

151, 158 (D.D.C. 2005ame)

She hagailed, moreover, to demonstrate an adequate connection between these various
incidents. SeeBaird |, 662 F.3dat 1251 (acts must be “adequately linked into a coherent hostile
environment claim”). She has not stated who was involved, how frequently these incidents
occurred, or how close in time they wefeeid. (noting that incidents might be sufficiently
related “if, for example, they ‘involve[] the same type of employment agtioccur(] relatively
frequently, and [are] perpetrated by the same managers’™) (qudongan 536 U.S. at 120-21);

Baird v. Gotbaum (Baird Il), No. 12-5334, 2015 WL 4079546, at *4 (D.C. Cir. July 7, 2015)

(finding plaintiff failed to allege hostile work environment where “[t]heintittent spats
identified in [her] complaints . . . — spanning eight years and involving different peopte doi
different things in different contextshave little to @ with each other,” and plaintiff had
“malde] no serious attempt to tie them together”).

The Courtconcludes as a matter of ldiat these largely isolated incidentseothe
course of eight yeado notamount to an abusive working environme8teeHussain v.
Nicholson, 435 F.3d 359, 366-67 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (plaintiff must show that employsgetsed
[her] to ‘discriminatoryintimidation, ridicule, and insult’ of such ‘sever]ity] or pervasive[ness]
[as] to alter the conditions of [her] employment and create an abusive workingrnenent’)

(quotingHarris, 510 U.Sat21-22) (some alterations in originagee alsd®aka, Inc. v. Breiner,

711 A.2d 86, 93 (D.C. 1998) (“More than a few isolated incidents must have occurred, and

genuinely trivial occurrences will not establish a prima facie case.”) (citatiotted).
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3. Constructive Discharge

Defendant also argudisat Plaintiffhasnot producecavidence sufficientor a jury to
conclude that she was constructively discharged from her position. Ithatég]esignations
or retirements are presumed to be volunta@dibtta v. Bair, 614 F.3d 556, 566 (D.C. Cir.
2010)(citation and internal quotation marks omitted)n certain caseshowever,‘the doctrine
of constructive discharge enables an eygé to overcome the presumption of voluntariness and
demonstrate she suffered an adverse employment action by showing thati@signretirement
was, in fact, not voluntary.ld. To do so, a plaintiff must show that “a reasonable person in the
employee’s position would have felt compelled to resign under the circumstaridegcitation
omitted).

In her Opposition, Plaintiff contends that she was effectively forced tarbsitause,
after her reinstatement in April 2011, “she was moved to a different position with no job
responsibilities, mostly doing data entry and copying, with no chance for eargecement in
her field.” Opp. at 13 (citing Elzeneiny Decl., 1 B4n)). She relies on a D.C. Court of
Appeals holding that a constructive-diacge claim may lie where discriminatory actions have
“essentially lockedthe employe¢into a position that did not allow for career advancement.”

Opp. at 13-14 (quotinw/illiams v. Johnson776 F.3d 865, 872 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (quotidghur

Young & Co. v. Sutherland, 631 A.2d 354, 362-63 (D.C. 1993)) (internal quotation marks

omitted)
Defendant urges in ifReplythat Plaintiffshould not be allowed to rely on attestations in
her declaration about these later events because it has not yet had an opportymitsetthele

about them and she is thus attempting to gain an unfair advantage. This p@ihtaken. It is,
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nonetheless, an immaterial concern becausa #gthe Court were taccept the avermenits her
declaration, she has failed to pige sufficient evidence tproceed on this claim.
It is true that, in extreme caseggeduction in job responsibilities limitations imposed

on career advancement could amount to a constructive dischar@&ark v. Marsh 665 F.2d

1168, 1174 (D.C. Cir. 1981), for instance, this circuit found sufficient evidence of a constructive
discharge where the “plaintiff had been actively seeking advancement . . . for géars” at

the time she was denied a final promotion; she “had been continuously spiemed”

advancement opportunities, “[d]espite an outstanding employment record,”; “herah&ffarts

to obtain relief were largely ignored”; and her “formal administrative @wrged three years
previously, had similarly failed to produce corrective actio.”at 1174. Because the plaintiff
“was thus essentially locked into a position from which she could apparently obtairef6 reli

the Court found her early retirement involuntatg.

In Williams v. Johnson, 776 F.3d 865 (D.C. Cir. 2015), a case brought under the D.C.

Whistleblower Protection Act, the wasadequatevidence of constructive dischangbere,
“[d]espite [the plaintiff's] request, none of the job responsibilities her former supervisors had
taken away from her was ever restorettl’ at 872. “[l] ndeed, her new supervisor eliminated
her position and, although Williams was nominally put in a new position, her new supervisor had
not found any work for Williams to do in more than five months of asking. In other words,
Williams presengd evidence that the damage her harassing supervisors had done had a lasting
effect and that she was essentially unable to work, let alone advance, in’héddjob.

A common thread in these prior cases is that the emplayaés considerabkttemps
to remedy the situation through formal and informal means, but to no avail, and it had thus

become clear that thiecircumstances would not change. Here, however, Plaintifiiad to
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show that she was “essentially locked into a position from which she could appareaitiynabt
relief.” Clark, 665 F.2d at 1174. She does assert, for instancéhatshe discussed the reduced
job responsibilities with anyoredter her transferAs courts haveexplained because “society
and the policies underlying Title VII will be best served if, wherever passiiplawful
discrimination is attacked within the context of existing employment relationseipgloyees
are generally expected to stayltatit jobs instead of resigningeeid. at 1173 (internal
guotation marks and citation omitted)he same is truef the ADA. Absent any attempn the
part of Plaintiffto resolvener concerns about her reduced job responsibilities, the situation had
not become so clearly permanent tlesignationvasa fitting response.
4. Retaliation

Although Counts IV and V are specifically labeled as “Retaliation” courigntiff also
does cursorily mention retaliation in Counts | and3eeSec. Am. Compl., 9 29, 32. As
discussed previously, however, most of the prigalby retaliatory acts are not properly before
this Court because Elzeneiny opted to pursue them through OHR and did not file a B0€ly E
Charge incorporating them. In contesting summary judgment, the only othehaataises are
Defendant’s creationf a hostile work environment and its constructive discharge. As the Court
has just granted the District summary judgment on those, it must also grant sumnagnjudg
as to the retaliation component of Countk I-

* * *

In sum, the Court will nothrow out Plaintiff'slateradded causes of actig@ounts II}
V), butwill insteadallow her one more chance to appear for a deposithanfor Counts 4, the
Court holds that Defendant’s Motias grantecalmost entirely, with the exception thfe

removal and discontinuation of certain accommodations, as discussed in Partdlipbal,
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V.  Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, the Court will grant in part and deny in part Defendant’

Motion for Summary Judgment. A contemporaneous Order will so state.

/s/ James E. Boasberg
JAMES E. BOASBERG
United States District Judge

Date: Augug 19, 2015
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